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JUSTICE JOHN PAUL STEVENS RETIRES FROM THE BENCH

On Monday, June 29, 2010, Justice John Paul Stevens
sat in a formal session of Court for the last time as an active
member of the Supreme Court of the United States. He an-
nounced on April 9, 2010 his intention to resign in a letter
to the President. Justice Stevens wrote: “Having concluded
that it would be in the best interests of the Court to have my
successor appointed and confirmed well in advance of the
commencement of the Court’s photo credit—Photo by Steve Pettewa
Next Term, I shall retire from
regular active service as an
Associate Justice . . . effec-
tive the next day after the
Court rises for the summer
recess this year.” His resigna-
tion had been anticipated for
some time following unof-
ficial comments he made and
in light of the fact that he did
not hire a full complement of
clerks for the 2010 Term. The
letter announcing his resigna-
tion preceded his 90" birthday
by only 11 days.

John Paul Stevens was
the senior Associate Justice
of the Court at the time of

his resignation. Indeed, he Justice John Paul Stevens retired shortly after his 90th birthday.

had served more than a decade longer than any of his other
colleagues currently on the bench. He became the senior
Associate Justice in 1994, beginning an unusually lengthy
time in that position.

Justice Stevens was appointed to the Bench in 1975 by
President Gerald Ford to fill the seat vacated by the retire-
ment of William O. Douglas. A former antitrust lawyer from
Chicago, Stevens was confirmed by the Senate just 19 days
after his nomination. His confirmation hearings marked the
end of the era when such proceedings were not televised.
All subsequent hearings have been televised. When asked
his criteria for selecting Stevens, President Ford replied that
his goal was to nominate “the finest legal mind I could find.”

Justice Stevens was raised in Chicago by an influential
family that operated the Stevens Hotel. At the time, that hotel
was the largest in the world, boasting 3,000 rooms.

Justice Stevens attended the University of Chicago and
then the Northwestern University School of Law. As with
many of his generation, his education was interrupted by
service in the Navy during World War II. When speaking of
his military experience, Ste-
vens is fond of reporting that
he joined the Navy on Dec.
6, 1941. “I’m sure you know
how the enemy responded
the following day,” he quips,
alluding to the attack at Pearl
Harbor that took place on
December 7, 1941. Like his
previous colleague Lewis F.
Powell, Jr., Stevens worked
as a code-breaker during the
War. He earned a Bronze Star
for that work.

Upon completion of law
school, Stevens clerked for
Justice Wiley B. Rutledge, Jr.,
after which he returned to
Chicago to practice law, spe-
cializing in antitrust cases.
While in private practice, he
taught law at Northwestern University and the University
of Chicago schools of law. He was appointed to the United
States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit in Chicago,
in 1970 where he was serving at the time of his nomination
to the Supreme Court of the United States.

He and his wife Maryan have maintained a home in
Florida for some years, and Justice Stevens will spend most
of his time there following his retirement. Like his previ-
ous colleagues, Retired Justices Sandra Day O’Connor and
David H. Souter, he may perform some Circuit Court duties
in retirement.

June 28, 2010 marked the last session of the Court for
this Term, and was Justice Stevens’ last day on the Bench.

Continued on page 16



A Letter from the President

As I noted in
my last letter to the
membership, the
Society has just
completed its 35
year of operation.
Since I highlighted
many of the accom-
plishments of those
years in that let-
ter, I will resist the
impulse to repeat
them again except
to say that these
years have brought
many noteworthy
achievements, in-
cluding publications and lectures and reenactments of land-
mark cases, in addition to educational training and outreach
that has impacted thousands of teachers and students across
the Nation.

All of this has been made possible because of your sup-
port and the dedication of Officers, Trustees, foundations and
organizations that have had the vision and commitment to
provide funding and expertise of the highest caliber. While
looking through old issues of the Quarterly, | am reminded of
the incredible contributions that have been made by sitting Jus-
tices of the Supreme Court, noted Supreme Court advocates
and scholars, and many others who have given generously
of their time to make possible our outstanding programs and
publications that shed new light and insight on the history and
activities of the venerable institution we serve.

Looking back on the year just ended, there are many won-
derful accomplishments, many of which have been, or will be,
detailed in this magazine. But I would like to focus on one
of special significance which was accomplished over a period
of several years. That is the construction of a magnificent gift
shop on the ground floor of the Supreme Court Building itself.

In recognition of the completion of this complex multi-
year-task, a brief ceremony was held in October 2009 with
Justice John Paul Stevens as the sponsor. He made brief
remarks commenting on the beauty of the shop and thanked
the Society for its contributions to educating the public about
the Court. Chief Justice John G. Roberts, Jr. and Justice Sonia
Sotomayor also attended. Officers and Trustees of the Society
were joined by members of the Society’s staff and representa-
tives of the contractors who had designed and constructed the
various elements of the space.

From the humble beginnings of a small desk located
just inside the bronze doors of the Court, the shop evolved
through several iterations, and in a number of locations, each
of which was more sophisticated than its predecessor. None
were constructed with an eye toward permanence, but in con-
junction with the renovation of the Supreme Court Building

itself which commenced several years ago, a master plan was
created that contemplated locating all commercial operations
for the building within one quadrant of the ground floor.

Space was allocated for the shop and the Society em-
barked on designing an area that would be in keeping with the
classical architecture and outstanding workmanship that was
demonstrated in the original fabrication of the building. The
design for the shop sought to capture and utilize many of the
decorative details incorporated in the building itself and that
would be in keeping with the magnificent architectural fabric
of Cass Gilbert’s original designs. Noted architect James
McCrery was engaged for this daunting task.

In designing the space, Mr. McCrery and Julia Garza
of his office toured the building, pored over drawings and
photographs and conferred with Catherine Fitts, Curator of
the Court, and the members of her staff, in an effort to create
a space that was in perfect harmony with the building itself.
The craftsmen, I think they can more aptly be referred to as
artists, of Winchester Woodworking fabricated the elaborate
and exquisite woodwork, and the result of their labors is truly
breathtaking. Marble countertops echo the marbles used
through the building itself and were created by Rugo Stone.

The complexities of renovation taking place in a work-
ing building were coordinated by the Marshal of the Court,
Pamela Talkin, assisted by Deputy Marshal Richard Nelson.
Mr. Nelson had principal responsibility for coordinating the
project and he went to incredible lengths to facilitate the work
while supervising simultaneously extensive renovation work
in the building at large.

Of course, there would not have been a shop without the
necessary funding. The Executive Committee determined
early on that when the Court invested its trust in the Society to
construct this shop, it also conferred a responsibility to build
something reflective of its august surroundings. As gift shop
sales only generate a small profit in any given year, most of the
money had to come from somewhere else. Several generous
benefactors stepped up to meet that need. First and foremost,
was the Clark-Winchcole Foundation. The organization
contributed just over half of the funds required. Society Vice
President Vincent C. Burke, III chaired the Gift Shop Com-
mittee and pleaded our need to the Foundation on numerous
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occasions. Another major contributor, The American Center
for Law and Justice, was represented by Jay Sekulow. Mr.
Sekulow is a Trustee of the Society and he and the Center have
contributed to many of the Society’s educational endeavors
in addition to supporting this project. Additional major sup-
port was given by Peter Angelos, Society Chairman Emeritus
Dwight Opperman, Vice Presidents Dorothy Goldman and
Jerome Libin who also made substantial contributions to the
project. In addition, Society Trustees Harlan Crow, Foster
Friess, Leon Polsky, Agnes William, and Don Wright made
contributions. Price Charities also donated funds in support.

The shop echoes the designs and decorative motifs found
throughout the building. It is paneled in rich oak woodwork
of great sophistication and beauty that echoes that found in
the Conference Rooms and other parts of the Building. It
is lit in part by several pendant chandeliers original to the
building that had been discarded in modernization projects

The gift shop design incorporates
a coffered ceiling which brings
to mind the elaborate treatments
of the East and West Conference
Rooms. The white oak paneling
and cabinetry echoes architectural
themes used in the conference
rooms, the library and in Chambers.
The white marble counter tops
with grey and black veining is S5
reminiscent of the marble used &
throughout the interior of the

building.

g Justice Stevens and Mr.

o Lancaster stand behind the

e — counter in the new gift during
P the grand opening celebration.

over the years. Every aspect of the design does great credit to
the building and the institution it serves. Its shelves are filled
with books, photographs and other items that provide insight
and educational material about the Court. Its construction
provides a service to the public and is an accomplishment in
which we can all take pride.

While my primary purpose was to speak of the shop, I
cannot resist this opportunity to entreat you once again to
continue your support of the Society. The numerous activi-
ties and programs we engage in cannot take place without
your support. As I have before, I encourage you to make
contributions whenever your situation allows, and to make
comments and suggestions for improvement or additional
activities. You are the life-blood of the organization and we
need and welcome your participation.

(fodt KamcaslS




UNVEILING OF THE REHNQUIST PORTRAIT BUST

The official portrait bust of the late Chief Justice William
H. Rehnquist was unveiled in a ceremony held in the Great Hall
of the Supreme Court Building on December 10, 2009. All
nine members of the Court were present along with members
of'the Rehnquist family, judges from lower courts, and former
Rehnquist clerks.

In opening remarks, Chief Justice Roberts observed
that “[t]oday is an especially appropriate day for holding this
ceremony. On December 10, 1971—38 years ago today—the
Senate confirmed William Rehnquist as an Associate Justice.
From that day forward, he devoted his great talents and energy
to this Court.”  Chief Justice
Roberts clerked for then-Asso-
ciate Justice William Rehnquist
in the 1980 Term, and later in
his career had the opportunity
to appear before him often as
an advocate prior to succeeding
him as Chief Justice.

Speaking of the origins of
displaying portrait busts of past
Chief Justices, Roberts said
that “[t]he tradition of commis-
sioning of marble busts of the
Chief Justices began in 1831,
when Congress appropriated
funds for the Supreme Court,
under the leadership of Chief
Justice Marshall, to commis-
sion a likeness of the Court’s

get to spend time with his family after it was over, and second,
the speakers were given S-minute time limits.” Continuing his
characterization of Rehnquist, Duff said that “[h]e appreciated
brevity. He would get right to the point himself—whether in
oral argument or his administrative tasks. He was punctual
and prepared. His self discipline enabled him to use his great
energy and intellect in so many different ways.” To illustrate
that point, Duff described the many administrative duties that
are incumbent upon the Chief Justice. These include some
80 statutory responsibilities that must be fulfilled annually,
along with duties that range beyond the Judiciary to encom-
pass service as Chancellor of
the Smithsonian Institution.
“And yet while Chief Justice,
he wrote 4 critically acclaimed
historical books. He enjoyed
painting, playing tennis, and
watching sports, especially
college football, and music and
sing-a-longs such as the annual
one at the Fourth Circuit’s Con-
ference.” (The Chief Justice
traditionally is assigned circuit
duties for the Fourth Circuit
as that encompasses the area
closest to Washington, DC.)
Mr. Duff quoted Justice Byron
White who served on the Court
with Rehnquist for many years
who once said of Rehnquist: “I

first chief, John Jay. . . . Over
the years, the Court continued
to add busts to its Chamber
through requests to Congress.
Congress balked for a while,

have never ceased to marvel
how one person could possibly
carry out all the tasks given
the Chief Justice and yet also
decide cases and write opinions
as the rest of us do. . . . The

after the Civil War, in provid-
ing funds for a bust of Chief
Justice Taney, due to the Dred
Scott decision. But Congress
eventually provided funding
for the Taney bust in 1874, at

mystery of how he has done
so has merely deepened as the
business and size of the federal
judiciary have so markedly
increased over the years . . .

the same time that Congress The bust of Chief Justice Rehnquist was sculpted by Mark .The Chief Justice reminds me

provided funds for the bust of Fondersmith.
Chief Justice Salmon Chase.
Sort of a Missouri Compromise of bust funding.”

Justice John Paul Stevens offered a brief tribute to his
former colleague. Stevens had long served with Rehnquist.
In describing Rehnquist’s interaction with his colleagues while
serving as Chief Justice, Stevens said that Rehnquist was “a
first among equals in every wonderful sense.”

James Duff, the Director of the Administrative Office of
the US Courts served as the Administrative Assistant to Chief
Justice Rehnquist for five years. Speaking of his former boss,
Duff observed that Chief Justice Rehnquist would have en-
joyed this special ceremony for two reasons: “First, he would

Collection of the Supreme Court of the United States Of a hlghly Conditioned Cross

between a quarter horse and a
racing thoroughbred.”

His extraordinary career notwithstanding, Duff said that
‘... of all his accomplishments, I think he would rank his
greatest one as raising a wonderful family. It was evident that
they were most important to him. His beautiful wife, Nan, and
his children, Janet, Jim, and Nancy, and grandchildren, always
came first, which I believe is why he worked so quickly. After
his passing, as the pallbearers carried his casket up these front
steps to lay him in repose in this Great Hall, we saw grief on
the faces of his colleagues on the Court—men and women of
diverse backgrounds from Brooklyn to rural Georgia—and
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Hughter, Dana, gaze up at the bust of the late Chief Justice. Justice Sotomayor

is seen to the left of Mr. Rehnquist and Solicitor general Elena Kagan is behind Dana Rehnquist.

it was clear—as it is today—that his family extended well
beyond his bloodlines. So it is good to see his likeness here
again—among family—and near the top of this Great Hall in
this magnificent Court.”

James Rehnquist, the son of the late Chief Justice,
described a little of his father’s early career in a two-man law
firm in Arizona where business could sometimes be slow.
He then spoke of his father’s appointment to the Justice
Department and the family’s move to the Washington, DC area.
While serving at the Department of Justice, two vacancies
materialized on the Supreme Court and Rehnquist’s office
was charged with reviewing possible nominees to fill these
openings. James recalled that one day he came home from
school and his father uncharacteristically called out to him
to come downstairs where he was relaxing and having his
customary snack of vanilla wafers and apple juice after his
day of work. Rehnquist told James that Nixon had earlier in
the day identified his two nominees for the vacancies on the
Court. When James asked him who they were, Rehnquist
replied that the first was a lawyer from Richmond named
Lewis E. Powell, “and the other is me.” His astonished son
said “What?” and his father responded, “Yeah, can you believe
it?” James concluded that “the rest is history.”

The bust was unveiled by two of the Rehnquist
grandchildren, Baird Rehnquist Spears and Dana Rehnquist.
Prior to his death, Chief Justice Rehnquist had selected

a likeness that had been taken in clay by sculptor Mark
Fondersmith as the basis for the sculpture. It was created in
white marble and joins the busts of his fifteen predecessors.
The sixteen busts are utilized in the Great Hall of the Supreme
Court Building, with the earliest Chief Justices displayed
nearest the front doors of the Building alternating from one
side of the Hall to the other in order of service. When the
Burger portrait bust was unveiled, Chief Justice Rehnquist
presided over that ceremony and quipped that “I have noticed
we are running out of room for busts,” and said he was a little
concerned about where his would be displayed. His fears
proved to be groundless. The Rehnquist bust now graces a
niche just outside the Court Room, with the Burger bust in
the correlating space across the Great Hall.

Chief Justice Roberts eloquently captured the emotions
of the occasion. “This ceremony sets in stone something we
all feel—the late Chief’s enduring presence here. Modest
and unassuming, he has left a permanent impression on this
institution, both as a great Justice and a great Chief Justice.
Now, after 33 years on the bench, Chief Justice Rehnquist can
take his place at a location of high honor in the Upper Great
Hall, here at the Courtroom’s door. But we all know that he
would care little about the honor of that location. Rather, he
would point out, in his own pragmatic way, that the location
provides a good vantage point for keeping an eye on us.”



JOHN JAY AND GEORGE WASHINGTON’S VALEDICTORY (PART II)
By Carol Brier*

Editors Note: The first part of this article was published
in Quarterly Volume XXXII, No. 1, 2010. The text can also be
found on the Society s website, along with the accompanying
end notes for Parts I and Il of the article.

In October 1818, Mrs. Hamilton visited Jay at his Bedford
farm. She mentioned that Mason had abandoned his biography
of Hamilton because of health and had returned all the papers
to her. She also brought up the subject of the Farewell Ad-
dress and said to Jay that her husband had written the draft
of the Address. Jay, in his letter to Judge Peters about the
meeting, wrote that he stated to Mrs. Hamilton “The General
[Hamilton] himself told me, that the President had sent him
a draught. She replied that she had seen the President’s letter
to the General about it, and that in it he desired the General
to make any alterations that he thought proper. . . . This cer-
tainly is very different from desiring him to compose one. In
case the letter has been preserved it will speak for itself. They
were at that time residing at places distant from each other,
and, consequently their communications on the subject were
doubtless epistolary. I am induced to mention Mrs. Hamilton’s
account to the President’s letter because it affords additional
evidence to confirm the statement contained in my answer to
yours about the draught of the address.”

Later that year, Jay, through Judge Peters, permitted Bush-
rod Washington to copy his letter to Judge Peters. Bushrod
Washington was a nephew of George Washington and his
uncle’s primary heir. He was also a Supreme Court Justice,
having been appointed by John Adams. Justice Washington
was aware of the ever-growing controversy. He had received
some letters from Mrs. Hamilton stating her position and was
interested in Jay’s opinion about the controversy. Bushrod
copied an extract from Jay’s earlier summary and noted that
Judge Peters had told him of Jay’s concern about confidential-
ity. Justice Washington commented that Mrs. Hamilton had
visited Mount Vernon a year before and borrowed certain of
her husband’s letters to Washington for the purpose of making
copies. He told Jay that the subject of the Farewell Address
was not discussed during her visit. Only later was he “. . .
informed in Phila, by a friend, the authorship of that address
was attributed to Genl H. in whispers by certain persons in
N. York & Phil.”?

This was not the first occasion on which Justice Wash-
ington loaned the president’s papers to someone. In 1800,
Bushrod Washington and Martha Washington desired to have
a biography of George written by John Marshall. Marshall
knew Washington well and was privy to many of the events
that would certainly be in the five-volume work he ultimately
wrote and published beginning in 1805. John Marshall’s Life
of Washington was the first biography of the former President.
Justice Washington actually provided all of the president’s
papers to Marshall for his project. Marshall ultimately re-
turned them.

Jay and Peters continued their correspondence. In No-

vember, 1820, Peters wrote of a new development in the
authorship controversy. Peters had heard that Mrs. Hamilton
had now loaned Hamilton’s papers to Joseph Hopkinson so
that he could write a biography of Alexander. Hopkinson
was a federal district judge and noted trial and constitutional
lawyer. Peters spoke to Hopkinson about attributing the
Farewell Address to Hamilton but Peters did not wish to be
put in the embarrassing position of refuting the allegation
publicly. Hopkinson replied that he would do nothing to
detract from Washington’s reputation and legacy. It seems
that the knowledge of the existence of Jay’s letter was used
wisely by Peters in his discussions with Hopkinson. Peters
asked Jay about certain ambiguities in Jay’s 1811 letter to
him. Peters wanted to know how much of the Hamilton draft
belonged to Washington and how much of Washington’s Ad-
dress could really be attributed to Hamilton. In reply, Jay
wrote that he could state nothing new beyond what he had
written to Peters in 1811, but he did clarify some facts of the
meeting: “[t]he attention both of Col. Hamilton and myself
was, in our Consultation on that Subject, confined to the Paper
in which he had incorporated that address with his proposed
corrections—We considered whether in this State it required
any further amendments and nothing occurring to render the
occurrences to the Draft itself, as sent by the President, neces-
sary—it was not then read by either of us, nor by me at any
Time. Anidea that this confidential Reference might perhaps
be disclosed, did not enter into my mind; and not having the
least apprehension of unpleasant Consequences, there was
nothing to excite my attention to care or Precaution respect-
ing them—Whether the President adopted all or only some
of the proposed Corrections, or added others, are questions

S
As the legal heir to Mount Vernon, Justice Bushrod Washington
also inherited the papers of his uncle, George Washington.
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which my memory at this late Day (sic) does not enable me
to answer—nor do I recollect having read the printed address,
with an Eye to those circumstances—

One thing is certain, Jay and Hamilton never spoke pub-
licly about the drafting of the Address and neither claimed
that anyone other than Washington was the author. Both also
respected Washington’s desire for confidentiality. Jay was
beginning to recognize the extent of the controversy and its
deleterious effects and his concern for confidentiality was to
be strained even further by new and unexpected developments.
Jay remained constant that the Farewell Address was the work
of Washington with his “Sentiments.”

The controversy entered the national arena in 1825. James
A. Hamilton, on behalf of his mother, asked Rufus King for
the package of letters King had had in his custody for almost
twenty years. King refused. The result was a suit in Chancery
brought by Mrs. Hamilton. She sought to force return of the
documents, even as King sailed to London to take up his post
as Minister Plenipotentiary. The debate was taken up in the
editorial pages of some newspapers. It so alarmed Bushrod
Washington that he sought the advice of Chief Justice John
Marshall. Marshall replied that “It is extremely fortunate that
Mr. Jay was privy to the whole transaction and that he has
lived long enough to explain it.”*

Marshall speculated that should Mrs. Hamilton succeed
in obtaining the letters and they be made public, he had no
doubt that they would coincide with Jay’s account. He then
went on to reason “I am unwilling to believe that General
Hamilton can have preserved these papers for the purpose to
which his family now wishes to apply them. Mrs. Hamilton
and his son appear to be more to blame than I had supposed,
since they must know that the address was written by Gen-
eral Washington and revised by his friends.”” It should be
remembered that Marshall had enjoyed free access to all of
Washington’s papers when he wrote his biography of the
President. He had seen nothing in them to make him question
the president’s authorship

A flurry of letters ensued. Rufus King wrote to his son
Charles about the lawsuit and asked him to write to Justice
Washington. Washington once again sought the advice of Mar-
shall, expressing regret that it had come to court. He went on to
say that supporters of President Washington would not oppose
the publication of the letters since Jay had already given an
explanation. “I firmly believe Mr. Jay’s statement to be cor-
rect.”” Both Marshall and Justice Washington were convinced
that other than the president’s letter requesting Hamilton’s
advice on the address there was nothing in the Washington
papers which suggested Hamilton’s actual authorship.

The court case brought the debate to national attention.
The Historical Society of Pennsylvania through its president
William Rawle, wrote to David Claypoole, the original pub-
lisher of the Farewell Address. He asked Claypoole to recall
his meeting with the President. Rawle reported that “[a]fter
relating these facts Mr. C produced to me the original and I
saw with reverence and delight a small quarto book contain-
ing about thirty pages all in the handwriting of this great

man.”” Rawle further stated that he was very familiar with
the handwriting of both Washington and Hamilton. There
was no question in his mind that the draft had been written
in Washington’s own hand. Rawle’s report and a Certifica-
tion by Claypoole were later made part of the Memoirs of the
Historical Society of Pennsylvania.

The Society did dig deeper in early 1826 when an Ad
Hoc Committee was formed to clarify the authorship of
the Farewell Address. Letters were sent to Richard Peters,
Bushrod Washington, John Marshall and John Jay. Bushrod
Washington replied: “. .. 1 beg leave to state that the papers
bequeathed to me, so far as | have examined them, afford
no ground whatever for attributing the composition of that
paper to any other than the person whose signature it bears.”
Washington further stated that he had no reason to believe
any other person had been responsible for the writing. John
Marshall, stated simply: “I have seen nothing there to induce
a suspicion that it was written by any other than the avowed
author.”” Judge Peters, who still retained the long letter writ-
ten to him by Jay, informed the Society: ‘I cannot deliver his
letters to any one without his permission;”'® but added “[i]t
is a strange pursuit in Hamilton’s family, thus to give trouble
to everybody who regards the fame of either the General or
Col H. himself. If he had written the Address, it is perfidy
to betray the confidence reposed in him. But as he did not, it
is wrong in his family to assert his having done it. In either
case his descendants would gain no reputation, but our na-
tion would suffer a serious injury by having the fascinating
name of Washington taken from the creed of every friend to
his country.”!!

Jay succinctly replied to the committee’s request for
information: “[t]o this request propriety requires from me a
candid and explicit answer.”'> Jay said that he first learned
of the controversy from Judge Peters in 1811 and in the same
year he had summarized his memory of the events in a letter
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Cl eutice n ar all reviewed the disputed papers in
connection with his work on a biography of George Washington.



addressed to Peters. He also wrote that he was now granting
permission explicitly to Peters to reveal the contents of that
letter but added . . . that should any copies be taken, it is my
desire that they may be copies of the whole, and not merely of
parts of the letter.”””* Thus, Jay had finally given consent to the
publication of his letter. Peters wrote to John Jay that members
of the historical society’s committee were . . . uneasy and
indignant “!* about the controversy. He stated again that he
was absolutely convinced that the address found in Hamilton’s
papers was simply a “fair copy” of Washington’s writing.

The ad hoc committee made one last inquiry when they
wrote to Col. Nicholas Fish, the surviving executor of Ham-
ilton’s will, in April 1826. Fish replied in May that he had
nothing in his possession to indicate that the original draft
was written by anyone other than Washington.

On October 5, 1826 the New York American, published
Jay’s 1811 letter to Judge Richard Peters in its entirety. A
statement from the paper followed the article:

NEW YORK AMERICAN

THURSDAY EVENING, OCTOBER 5, 1826

The letter of Mr. Jay, which we will publish this day, on
the subject of Washington’s Farewell Address, will be read
with great interest. It is marked with the characteristic force
and elegance of that gentleman’s style, and in its facts and
reasoning, is conclusive.'

This was high praise indeed from a newspaper with oppos-
ing political views, and further confirmed the extent of Jay’s
reputation and credibility. It is likely that other papers also
published the letter, making it available to a larger readership.
Publication of the letter effectively put an end to the national
debate over the authorship of the Farewell Address.

When Rufus King returned from England in 1826, he
was not well physically or mentally, dying less than a year
later. He moved to put his affairs in order and shortly after
returning home, he sent James Hamilton all of the letters he
had held in custody for more than twenty years. Undoubtedly
King felt that the publication of Jay’s letter relieved him of his
long-standing obligation as custodian of the Hamilton papers,
particularly as he thought that Jay’s letter proved that there
was no longer any reason for the papers to be withheld from
the Hamilton family.'® James Hamilton received the letters
which were added to a larger collection of Col. Hamilton’s
papers. Ultimately, Mrs. Hamilton sold the entire collection
to the government. They are now in the Library of Congress.

The Pennsylvania Historical Society published its findings
in 1826 and included copies of its letters to John Jay, Chief
Justice Marshall, Justice Washington, Judge Peters and Col.
Fish, along with their responses. The report also included
Claypoole’s Certification, and John Jay’s all-important letter
of March 29, 1811 to Richard Peters. The members of the
Committee believed that the answers they had received “. . .
must remove all doubts on the subject. The facts stated in Mr.
Jay’s letter to Judge Peters well account for the mistake which
has accompanied this question. The whole address appears
to have been copied by General Hamilton, whose affectionate
attachment to the President prevented him from thinking any

trouble on his account too great, and this copy having been we
know not how, returned to his possession, was probably the
cause of the opinion that he was the original author.”'” The
members of the Committee believed their final report on the
controversy to be conclusive and put an end to researching
the matter.

The publication of Jay’s letter brought the national con-
troversy over the authorship to a close. Later allegations and
articles that attempted to raise doubts proved to be of no sub-
stance and had no real impact on those conclusions. The final
chapter on this subject was the publication of Washington’s
original draft, with all its notations, by James Lenox in 1850.
Notwithstanding these reports and opinions of witnesses
and experts, Mrs. Hamilton never wavered in her belief that
her husband had written the Farewell Address. She remained
implacable in this position until she died in 1854 at the age
of 97, including in her Will a final statement of her belief of
Hamilton’s authorship of the Address.

John Jay never faltered in his admiration and respect for
Washington and never once doubted who had written the
Farewell Address. Judge Peters had used the existence of Jay’s
1811 letter to him to defend Washington’s position on numer-
ous occasions in this strange controversy. Even his detractors
never doubted John Jay’s character, integrity and credibility
and his letter was a major factor in the final determination of
the controversy over authorship. Skeptics, however, formed
opinions based on political beliefs and rumors and then came
to unsubstantiated conclusions. Throughout the controversy,
Jay remained circumspect, lawyerly and patient, and in the
end he was responsible for the emergence of the facts in this
strange episode of American history.

In modern times, when everyone understands that
presidents ordinarily do not write their speeches or even

> S 5 W ‘:"
The publication of a letter written by Retired Chief Justice
John Jay brought the controversy over the authorship of the

document to a close.

S2JEIS PaI() Ay} JO JIN0)) swaldng Ay Jo UONIS[0)



semi-personal letters, this controversy may seem petty. But
in earlier times there were different sensibilities. Bushrod
Washington, John Marshall, the Hamilton family, and John
Jay all obviously believed that the authorship of the address
was of the gravest importance. Mrs. Hamilton thought that
some proof of her husband’s authorship would augment his
reputation. Her opponents obviously believed that George
Washington’s reputation would be diminished. While the
controversy may now seem to be minor, it illustrates how
an earlier era viewed the importance of original authorship.

!/ John Jay to Richard Peters, 25 January, 1819, The New York Public Library.

" Bushrod Washington to Charles King, 6 October, 1825, Paltsits.

3 John Jay to Richard Peters, 26 December, 1820, Columbia University.

4 John Marshall to Bushrod Washington, 7 July, 1825, Paltsits, p.282.

3 Ibid, p.283

¢ John Marshall to Bushrod Washington, 3 October, 1825, Paltsits, p. 285.

" Report of William Rawle on Conversation with David Claypoole, December
16, 1825, Paltsits, p.288.

# Bush. Washington to Committee of Historical Society of Pennsylvania, 23
February, 1826, Memoirs of the Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Edward Arm-
strong, ed., (McCarty and Davis, Philadelphia, PA, 1826),Vol.1, P.244.

% J.Marshall to Historical Society of Pennsylvania, 22 February, 1826, Memoirs
of the Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Vol.1, p. 245.

1" Richard Peters to Historical Society of Pennsylvania, 19 February, 1826,
Memoirs of the Historical Society of Pennsylvania, Vol.1, p. 247.

" Ibid.

12 John Jay to Committee of Historical Society of Pennsylvania, 21 February,
1826, Columbia University.

¥ 1bid.

14 Richard Peters to John Jay, 21 February, 1826, Columbia University.

15 New-York American, 5, October, 1826.

16/ Paltsits, p. 88.

17 Report of the Commiittee, Memoirs of the Historical Society of Pennsylvania,

Vol.1 pp. 242-243.

* Carol Brier is the author of several previous articles
on John Jay. She is a member of the Board of Trustees of the
Friends of John Jay Homestead where she is currently working
on an archival project and writing other articles about Jay.



CLERKS' CORNER: JOHN PAUL STEVENS RECEIVES A CLERKSHIP
By John Q. Barrett*

In May 1947, a Northwestern University law professor,
Willard Pedrick, visited Washington, D.C., the Supreme Court
of the United States and, while there, an old friend and former
law professor, Associate Justice Wiley B. Rutledge. During
their conversation, Rutledge mentioned that he was hoping that
appropriations legislation would pass soon that would allow
him to hire, for the coming Court Term, a second law clerk.

Pedrick replied that John Stevens, a top Northwestern law
student who soon would graduate,
would make an excellent clerk. Pe-
drick added that their mutual friend
Bill Wirtz, another Northwestern
professor, knew Stevens well. Rut-
ledge said he was interested in
learning more, and that Pedrick
should have Wirtz write a letter to
Rutledge about Stevens. ity

When Pedrick returned to Chi-
cago, he told Wirtz of this conversa-
tion. Within days, Wirtz—W. Wil-
lard Wirtz, who later served as U.S.
Secretary of Labor under Presidents
Kennedy and Johnson, wrote back
to Rutledge:

“Let me simply say that I con-
sider Stevens to be one of the two
most outstanding students whom I
have ever worked with. The other
is a classmate of his who is here
with him now. The members of
the faculty who were here during
the war [unlike Wirtz and, for that
matter, Stevens] add Francis Allen to this group, and are then
almost unanimous in their feeling that these are the three most
promising men ever to attend this school. I know that this
must sound like exaggerated praise, and yet it is literally true.”

“Stevens has the quickest, and at the same time most bal-
anced, mind I have ever seen at work in a classroom. I have
worked with him, too, in connection with two or three law
review projects. The man is just as solid as he is brilliant.
Beyond all this he has a personality which makes it a pure
delight to work with him. I suppose that he is undoubtedly
the most admired, and at the same time, the best liked man
in school.”

“I guess it would be foolish for me to try to say more.
I could add a number of details but they would all be of so
much the same character that you would begin to apply a
general discount rate. I can’t tell you how much I hope that
your plans will work out so that you can take advantage of
Stevens’s abilities and that he may, at the same time, enjoy
what I should consider the finest single opportunity that any
man could possibly have.”

In July 1947, President Truman signed the appropriations
law authorizing Supreme Court justices, to employ second
law clerks. Rutledge communicated this to Wirtz and asked
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him to offer the job to Stevens. Stevens promptly wrote the
Justice to accept, adding that he would not finish law school
until September. Rutledge wrote back, telling Stevens he
would be expected to stay as a law clerk for two years, and
that he should take a week of vacation in September before
moving to Washington to begin his clerkship.

When Stevens wrote back, he thanked Justice Rutledge
for his consideration in encouraging Stevens to take a week off
between law school and clerking.
Stevens also pushed back a little bit
against the Justice’s preference that
Stevens clerk for two years:

“If you decide that you would
like to have me stay on for a sec-
ond year, I shall be happy to do so.
Frankly, my personal preference
would be to stay for only one year,
but this preference is by no means
strong enough to cause me to recon-
sider my decision. I definitely want
to accept the position whether it be
for one year or two, and you may be
sure that [ will do my utmost to do
the kind of work that will persuade
you to keep me for two.”

John Stevens did, as a Rutledge
law clerk, exactly that kind of excel-
lent work. Stevens also persuaded
the Justice to let him go after only
one year. In summer 1948, Stevens
finished his clerkship. He explored
the possibility of entering law teach-
ing but ultimately decided to enter law practice. In September
1948, he became associated with a Chicago law firm.

Justice Rutledge missed law clerk Stevens. In December
1948, for example, Rutledge wrote to Bill Wirtz that “the way
John Stevens panned out makes me wonder if your own rec-
ommendation even at long distance isn’t better than my own
judgment on personal interview.” Indeed, in a letter to another
confidante, Rutledge wrote at this time that “John Stevens,
although taken sight unseen, turned out to be one of my best
clerks. Inow think I made a mistake in not keeping him for
a second year, that is, in leaving the choice to him whether
he would return [to Chicago] and plunge into his more active
professional and political life when he did.”

In spring 1949, Justice Rutledge described Stevens to a
third friend as one of his “ablest clerks” and lamented again
that Stevens was “with me only one year....”

* John Q. Barrett is a professor at St. John's University
School of Law in New York. He is also the Elizabeth S. Lenna
Fellow at the Robert H. Jackson Center, Inc. in Jamestown,
New York. This article was originally written and made avail-
able to subscribers to his Robert H. Jackson list.



NEW SUPREME COURT HISTORICAL SOCIETY MEMBERSHIPS

ALABAMA

Bradley J. Cain, Birmingham
Greg Cook, Birmingham
Michael D. Freeman, Birmingham
Leigh Anne Hodge, Birmingham
Teresa G. Minor, Birmingham
Harlan I. Prater IV, Birmingham
Randall H. Sellers, Birmingham
Lisa J. Sharp, Birmingham

Will Hill Tankersley, Birmingham
John Scott Vowell, Birmingham

ALASKA

Cherie L. Bowman, Fairbanks
Jo Friday, Anchorage

Mitchel A. Friday, Anchorage
Howard Lazar, Anchorage

ARIZONA

Mark I. Harrison, Phoenix
Doryce Norwood, Tempe
Daniel Rice, Fort Smith

CALIFORNIA

Monte Baier, Rosemead

Jennifer L. Barry, San Diego

Dorn G. Bishop, San Diego
Robert Melvin Cane, Delano
Rosalyn Chapman, Santa Monica
Steven J. Cologne, San Diego
Craig Corbitt, San Francisco

Eric James Diamond, Los Angeles
Robert Grimes, San Diego
Teresa Guerrero-Daley, San Jose
Linda Ipong, Salinas

Murray Kamionski, Tarzana
Herbert Kunowski, Garden Grove
Juliet Leftowich, Berkley

Irma L. Martinez, Monrovia

C. D. Michel, Long Beach

Scott Rickman, San Francisco
Thomas E. Sharkey, Rancho Santa Fe
Otto Sorensen, San Diego
Michael W. Stamp, Monterey
Darryl H. Steensma, San Diego
Allen L. Thomas, Long Beach
Reg A. Vitek, San Diego

Michael J. Weaver, San Diego
Kristine L. Wilkes, San Diego

COLORADO

llene Lin Bloom, Denver
Frederick W. Damour, Denver
Lamar Jost, Denver

Rebecca Kourlis, Denver
William D. Neighbors, Boulder
Robert Rich, Denver

Harry M. Sterling, Denver
David A. Zisser, Denver

CONNECTICUT
Barry J. Sinoway, North Haven

DISTRICT of COLUMBIA
Terry Adamson

Kenneth Hunter-Hall
John K. Lapiana

Lynn Levinson

Robert Parker

Todd Smith

FLORIDA

David P. Ackerman, West Palm Beach
George E. Bunnell, Ft. Lauderdale
Thomas Burns, Tampa

Carl Cox, Tampa

Margaret Cox, Tampa

Landis V. Curry lll, Tampa

Earl L. Denney Jr., West Palm Beach
Manuel Farach, West Palm Beach
Manuel A. Garcia - Linares, Miami
Craig Gibbs, Jacksonville

Wm. Andrew Haggard, Coral Gables
Leon H. Handley, Orlando

Gordon Hill, Tampa

Michael Hogsten, Palm Beach Gardens
Gordon James lll, Fort Lauderdale
Joseph P. Jones, Tallahassee

Carla Knight, Tampa

Julia Knight, Gainesville

Margaret Knight, Tampa

Victoria Knight, Tampa

John W. Kozyak, Coral Gables

William E. Kuntz, Jacksonville

Rodney S. Margol, Jacksonville Beach
Devin Murphy, Tampa

Steven Naclerio, Miami

Michael J. Napoleone, West Palm Beach

C. Rufus Pennington I, Jacksonville Beach

Gerald F. Richman, West Palm Beach
James C. Rinaman Jr., Jacksonville
Mark A. Romance, Miami

David J. Sales, West Palm Beach
Martha Scofield, Naples

Patricia A. Seitz, Miami

Lyle E. Shapiro, Miami

Marty Steinberg, Miami

William P. Vander Wyden, Miami
Ethan Wall, Miami

John White, West Palm Beach

GEORGIA

Emmet J. Bondurant, Atlanta

Tom Eaton, Athens

Allegra J. Lawrence Hardy, Atlanta
Paul M. Kurtz, Athens

Eduardo Martinez, Atlanta
Michelle Meiselman, Norcross
Michael M. Raeber, Atlanta
Elizabeth Tanis, Atlanta

W. Terence Walsh, Atlanta

HAWAII

Mark S. Davis, Honolulu
Douglas D. Frederick, Honolulu
Gino L. Gabrio, Honolulu
Jacqueline Kido, Honolulu

11

JANUARY 1, 2010 - MARCH 31,2010

Robert P. Marx, Hilo

Taya R. Naruse, Honolulu
Lawrence S. Okinaga, Honolulu
Jeffrey M. Osterkamp, Honolulu
Jeffrey Portnoy, Honolulu
Marion Reyes-Burke, Honolulu
Andrew L. Salenger, Honolulu

IDAHO
Nicole C. Hancock, Boise

ILLINOIS

Roger A. Benson, Kankakee
Heather Brown, Bourbonnais
Barbara Burns, Chicago
Kelly Charnock, Bloomington
Joel Funtowitz, Warrenville
David Goltz, Oakbrook
William M. Hannay Ill, Chicago
Dan Kennedy, Peoria
Michael Kralovec, Chicago
lan S. Mitchell, Lisle

Donald A. Moran, Chatsworth
Gary Schuman, Glenview
Rachel N. Sostrin, Chicago

INDIANA
Robert J. Hall, Warsaw

IOWA
Connie Alt, Cedar Rapids
Bob Waterman, Davenport

KANSAS
Alvin D. Herrington, Wichita
Lee H. Woodard, Wichita

KENTUCKY

Bill Cunningham, Princeton
Samuel E. Davies, Barbourville
Ken S. Dean, Madisonville

Byron Lee Hobgood, Madisonville
Frank N. King Jr., Henderson
Randall S. May, Hazard

Susan Wesley McClure, Madisonville

Bill Paxton, Central City

Whayne C. Priest Jr., Bowling Green

Leif C. Ratliff, Madisonville
Michael Roe, Covington
Sheryl G. Snyder, Louisville
R. Kent Westberry, Louisville
John C. Whitfield, Madisonville
Henry R. Wilhoit Jr., Grayson

LOUISIANA

Judy Y. Barrasso, New Orleans
Roy E. Blossman, New Orleans
M. Hampton Carver, New Orleans
Jimmy R. Faircloth Jr., Alexandria
William Finn, New Orleans
Russell L. Foster, New Orleans
W. Gerald Gaudet, Lafayette
Rebecca Harrod, Monroe

John Hoychick Jr., Rayville



Mary Ann Vial Lemmon, New Orleans
Edward F. Martin, New Orleans
John M. McCollam, New Orleans
Jill R. Menard, Belle Chasse
Ralph S. Nelson, Shreveport
Philip D. Nizialek, New Orleans
Ernest L. O’'Bannon, New Orleans
John W. Perry Jr., Baton Rouge

J. Michael Small, Alexandria
Frank A. Tessier, New Orleans
Harald T. Werner Jr., New Orleans
John M. Wilson, New Orleans

MARYLAND

Jack Binkley, Annapolis

Henry E. Dugan Jr., Timonium
Christopher Jack Hill, Towson
Richard B. North, Baltimore
James O’Brien, Towson

George L. Russell Jr., Baltimore

MASSACHUSETTS

Angel Kelley Brown, Brockton
Alan S. Geismer Jr., Boston
John C. La Liberte, Boston
Natasha C. Lisman, Boston
Phil Lofane, Carlisle

Judith H. Mizner, Boston

MICHIGAN

Terrence R. Bacon, Grand Rapids
John Brown, Grand Rapids

J. A. Cragwall Jr., Grand Rapids

Joseph and Martha Crawford, Grand Rapids

Nate Franklin, Midland

Christine Lawrence, Wyoming
David M. Leonard, Grand Rapids
Paul L. Maloney, Kalamazoo
Michael Mohr, Ada

Janet T. Neff, Grand Rapids
Richard Postma, Grand Rapids
Jake Walker, Ann Arbor

Janet K. Welch, Lansing

MINNESOTA

Joseph Anthony, Minneapolis
Robert Bennett, Minneapolis
Karl Cambronne, Minneapolis
James Carey, Minneapolis
Thomas J. Conlin, St. Louis Park
Joseph M. Crosby, St. Paul
James F. Dunn, Eagan

Thomas Fraser, Minneapolis
Phillip Gainsley, Minneapolis
Stuart Goldenberg, Minneapolis
John M. Harens, Minneapolis
Kurt Hohenstein, Winona
Michael A. Kampmeyer, Sunfish Lake
John D. Kelly, Duluth

Steven Kirsch, St. Paul

Mark Kosieradzki, Plymouth
William Kvas, Minneapolis
William Lemire, Minneapolis
Stephen Lucke, Minneapolis
Reed MacKenzie, Minneapolis
Donald Chance Mark Jr., Eden Prairie
Timothy McCarthy, Minneapolis

Vincent J. Moccio, Minneapolis
Mark Nolan, St. Paul

Richard J. Nygaard, Minneapolis
Kathleen Flynn Peterson, Minneapolis
Peter Riley, Minneapolis

Francis Rondoni, Minneapolis
Jim Rowader, Minneapolis
Timothy R. Schupp, Minneapolis
James Schwebel, Minneapolis
William Sieben, Minneapolis
Fred Soucie, Anoka

George Soule, Minneapolis
Richard Thomas, Arden Hills

MISSOURI

Jon Bailey, Kansas City

Brent W. Baldwin, St. Louis
David Bell, Kansas City
Thomas Bender, Kansas City
Dan L. Birdsong, Rolla

Damien de Loyola, Kansas City
Tamara de Wild, Springfield
Andrew Esselman, Kansas City
Victoria Findley, Kansas City
Sheena Foye, Kansas City

W. Brian Gaddy, Kansas City
Jeff Groves, Springfield

Adam Henningsen, Kansas City
Stacy Joffe, Fenton

J. Justin Johnston, Kansas City
Marilyn B. Keller, Kansas City
Jason Kumar, Kansas City

J. Kent Lowry, Jefferson City

J. Brett Milbourn, Kansas City
Christopher R. Mirakian, Kansas City
Stephen G. Mirakian, Kansas City
Nathan J. Owings, Kansas City
Beth Phipps, Fenton

Sharon H. Proctor, Lake St. Louis
Kip Richards, Kansas City
Charles M. Rogers, Kansas City
Robert W. Russell, Sedalia

Tay Schumaker, Kansas City
Colleen F. Shepherd, Fenton
Craig A. Van Matre, Columbia
Eric Vernon, Blue Springs
Charles A. Weiss, St. Louis
Fred Wilkins, Kansas City

Tyler Wood, Kansas City

NEBRASKA
David Brown, Lincoln
Nicole Theophilus, Omaha

NEVADA
David B. Barker, Las Vegas

NEW JERSEY

Todd M. Galante, Newark

Herve Gouraige, Newark
Charles Graf, Morristown

Gerald F. Miksis, Atlantic City
James P. Paoli, Cherry Hill
Alexander Sharpe, Glen Gardner

NEW MEXICO
Paul Bardacke, Santa Fe

12

Kari Brandenburg, Albuquerque
Michael B. Browde, Albuquerque
L. Bernice Galloway, Albuquerque
Roberta C. Ramo, Albuquerque
Carl Bryant Rogers, Santa Fe
Andrew G. Schultz, Albuquerque
Kevin K. Washburn, Albuquerque
Clyde F. Worthen, Albuquerque

NEW YORK

Stephen M. Aronson, New York
Philip J. Bergan, New York
Matthew Berger, Hempstead
Paul B. Bergman, New York

Ben Brafman, New York

Rachel Brodsky, Brooklyn
William M. Brodsky, New York
Judd Burstein, New York

John Patrick Coffey, Bronxville
James M. Conboy, Albany

Ron D’Addario, Brooklyn

Nora Demleitner, Hempstead
Peter G. Eikenberry, New York
David N. Ellenhorn, New York
Christopher Gunther, New York
Steven Hyman, New York

Elihu Inselbuch, New York

Alan R. Kaufman, New York
James L. Kerr, New York

Steven G. Kobre, New York
Gerald B. Lefcourt, New York
Travis Lenkner, New York

Alan Levine, New York

Brian E. Maas, New York
Joseph J. Maltese, Staten Island
Roger Oresman, New York
Lawrence B. Pedowitz, New York
Jason Pickholz, New York
Marvin Pickholz, New York
William F. Plunkett Jr., Tarrytown
Caroline Rule, New York
Stephen P. Scaring, Garden City
Barry Slotnick, New York

Ridley M. Whitaker, New York

NORTH CAROLINA

Frank E. Emory Jr., Charlotte
Reid R. Phillips, Greensboro
Christin Jarvis Reische, Davidson

NORTH DAKOTA
Ronald H. McLean, Fargo

OHIO

Stacey Heiser, Cincinnati
Thomas Hill, Austintown
Evan Nolan, Cincinnati

OKLAHOMA

Todd Blasdel, Oklahoma City
Benjamin J. Butts, Oklahoma City
Steve Clark, Oklahoma City
Darrell W. Downs, Claremore
Gary B. Homsey, Oklahoma City
Mack K. Martin, Oklahoma City
David K. McPhail, Oklahoma City



Larry D. Ottaway, Oklahoma City
Geremy A. Rowland, Oklahoma City
Ted Sherwood, Tulsa

Mart Tisdal, Clinton

PENNSYLVANIA

Christopher J. Brooks, East Stroudsburg

Maureen Kowalski, Bethel park
Robert J. Marino, Pittsburgh
Gary E. Mullin, Philadelphia

PUERTO RICO
Noemi Landrau - Rivera, San Juan

RHODES ISLAND

William P. Devereaux, Providence
Kurt T. Kalberer Il, Providence

J. Scott Kilpatrick, Providence
Marco P. Uriati, West Warwick
Benjamin V. White 1lI, Providence

SOUTH CAROLINA

Kenneth Anthony Jr., Spartanburg
John M. Bleecker, Charleston
Richard J. Breibart, Lexington
Jean P. Derrick, Lexington

David C. Dority, Greenwood
Robert L. Felix, Columbia

Robert W. Foster Sr., Columbia
John Freeman, Columbia

O. Fayrell Furr Jr., Myrtle Beach
Jonathan Gasser, Columbia
Gregory P. Harris, Columbia
Stacey D. Haynes, Columbia
Bryan F. Hickey, Greenville

Leigh J. Leventis, Columbia
Kathleen C. McKinney, Greenville
Thomas F. McNally, Columbia

A. Marvin Quattlebaum Jr., Greenville
Michael Tighe, Columbia

C. Rauch Wise, Greenwood

SOUTH DAKOTA

Robert B. Anderson, Pierre

John P. Blackburn, Yankton

Renee H. Christensen, Sioux Falls
William P. Fuller, Sioux Falls
Michael Marlow, Yankton

Mark V. Meierhenry, Sioux Falls
James E. Moore, Sioux Falls
Susan M. Sabers, Sioux Falls
Hilary L. Williamson, Sioux Falls

TENNESSEE

Zachary H. Greene, Chattanooga
Joseph Hanks, Memphis

Scott King, Brentwood

Gina Zylstra, Nashville

TEXAS

Javier Alvarez, El Paso

Merrie Cardin, Granbury

Alan Dabdoud, Dallas

Brandon T. Darden, Dallas

James Elgass, Dallas

Rankin Gasaway, Dallas

Jani Maselli, Houston

Michael Massengale, Houston
Jaclanel M. McFarland, Spring
Richard Mumey, Houston

Cynthia Eva Hujar Orr, San Antonio
Walter Anderson Shumate, Arlington

UTAH

L. V. Curtis, West Jordan
Timothy Houpt, Salt Lake City
Rodney G. Snow, Salt Lake City
Michael Wooley, Salt Lake City

VERMONT

Robert B. Hemley, Burlington
E. William Leckerling, Charlotte
John P. Maley, Burlington
Robert D. Rachlin, Burlington

VIRGINIA

William E. Artz, Arlington
Wayne Ball, Mechanicsville
Stanley G. Barr Jr., Norfolk
Marilyn E. Brookens, Arlington
Morton H. Clark, Williamsburg
Cassandra C. Collins, Richmond
Anthony Corbo, Manassas
Donald Craib, Alexandria
William B. Eley, Norfolk
Augustus C. Epps Jr., Richmond

Philip G. Gardner, Martinsville
Marvina Ray Greene, Charlottesville
Rodney G. Leffler, Fairfax

K. Reed Mayo, Virginia Beach

David Meeker, Newport News
Donald R. Morin, Charlottesville
Rosewell Page I, Richmond

James C. Roberts, Richmond
Catherine A. Ruffing, Sterling
Stephen M. Sayers, McLean

Barbara Snow-Martone, Falls Church
Betty A. Thompson, Arlington
Anthony F. Troy, Richmond

James C. Turk, Roanoke

Thomas W. Williamson Jr., Richmond

WASHINGTON

Don Austin, Seattle
Anne Egeler, Olympia
Terry W. Martin, Spokane
Rob Porcarelli, Seattle

WEST VIRGINIA
Robert M. Bastress Jr., Morgantown
Troy N. Giatras, Charleston

WISCONSIN

Sanford Mallin, Milwaukee

Charles W. Pautsch, Milwaukee
Paul R. Van Grunsven, Milwaukee
Thomas E. Vandenberg, Green Bay

WYOMING

Timothy C. Day, Jackson
William L. Simpson, Cody

INTERNATIONAL -

JAPAN
Sato Nobuyuki, Tokyo

TAWAIN
Edward Thylstrup, Taipei

THAILAND
Namthip Onchod, Buengkum, Bangkok

The Curator's Office at the Supreme Court of the United States is seeking qualified docents to assist
visitors by conducting courtroom lectures, leading private tours, and staffing the information desk.
Applicants must be at least 21 years of age, be comfortable speaking to large groups of people of
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Justice Stevens retires—continued from page 1

At the beginning of the session, Chief Justice Roberts read
a statement reporting the death the previous day of Martin
D. Ginsburg, husband of Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg. The
Chief Justice’s statement noted that Mr. Ginsburg was an ac-
complished lawyer and law professor known for his sharp wit
and gourmet cooking.

After the opinions had been announced and other busi-
ness conducted, Chief Justice Roberts bid farewell to Justice
Stevens on behalf of himself and his colleagues, by reading
a short statement. “For the past thirty-four years, this Court
has drawn strength from your presence. . . . You have alloyed

genuine collegiality with independent judgment” observed il
Roberts. “Your decision to retire saddens each of us in JSes

distinct ways. We will miss your wisdom, your perceptive
insights and vast life experience, your unaffected decency
and your resolute commitment to justice.” The letter was
signed “affectionately” by all of the current Justices and
the two retired Justices. Many of the spectators that day
wore bowties, a tribute to the trademark neckwear worn
by Justice Stevens throughout his tenure on the Bench. At
the conclusion of his remarks, the Chief Justice said they
would allow time for Justice Stevens to make a rebuttal.

Stevens then read from a short letter that started “Dear
Colleagues.” The text of the letter read:

(left to right) President Gerald Ford sits with Chief Justice Warren

more importantly, Maryan and I thank each of you and each
of your spouses—present and departed—for your warm and
enduring friendship.

It has been an honor and a privilege to share custodial
responsibility for a great institution with the eight of you and
with ten of your predecessors. | have enjoyed working with
each of you and with every member of the Supreme Court
work force that has always taken such excellent care of the
Justices. If I have overstayed my welcome, it is because this
is such a unique and wonderful job. I wish you all the best.”

s

“Collegiality and independence characterize our Burger and Justice John Paul Stevens on the day of Stevens’
common endeavor. | thank you for our kind words. Far investiture in 1976.
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